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Elizabeth Brehm

From: CBER OCOD Consumer Account <cberocod@fda.hhs.gov>
Sent: Friday, May 27, 2022 10:20 AM
To: Elizabeth Brehm
Subject: 56136  RE: [EXTERNAL] FW: FDA Expands Eligibility for Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine Booster 

Dose to Children 5 through 11 Years

Dear Ms. Brehm: 

On behalf of Dr. Peter Marks, director of FDA’s Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER), I 
would like to thank you for your inquiry.  

We refer you to publicly available information on FDA’s website, including: 

 Event materials, including FDA briefing document (EUA amendment request for Pfizer-BioNTech 
COVID-19 Vaccine for use in children 5 through 11 years of age) from the October 26, 2021, Vaccines 
and Related Biological Products Advisory Committee meeting 

 FDA Decision Memorandum – October 29, 2021 
 FDA Decision Memorandum – May 17, 2022 
  

We hope this information is helpful. 

Sincerely, 
Jill Burkoff 
 
Health Communications Specialist 
Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research 
Office of Communication, Outreach and Development 
U.S. Food and Drug Administration 
Tel: 240-402-8021 
OCOD@fda.hhs.gov  
  
This informal communication represents my best judgment at this time. It does not constitute an advisory 
opinion in accordance with 21 CFR 10.85, and does not necessarily represent the  
formal position of FDA or otherwise obligate the agency to the views expressed. 
 

From: Elizabeth Brehm <ebrehm@sirillp.com>  
Sent: Thursday, May 19, 2022 2:55 PM 
To: Marks, Peter <Peter.Marks@fda.hhs.gov> 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] FW: FDA Expands Eligibility for Pfizer‐BioNTech COVID‐19 Vaccine Booster Dose to Children 5 
through 11 Years 
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. 

 

Good afternoon Dr. Marks, 
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Can you kindly point me to the data supporting your comment below that Pfizer’s COVID-19 vaccine is 
effective in helping to prevent the most severe consequences of COVID-19 in individuals 5 years of age? I am 
most interested in the data showing this for children ages 5-11 years old. 
 
Thank you. 
 

Elizabeth Brehm 
 
 

From: U.S. Food and Drug Administration <usfda@public.govdelivery.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, May 17, 2022 7:36 AM 
To: siriglimstad.fda@gmail.com 
Subject: FDA Expands Eligibility for Pfizer‐BioNTech COVID‐19 Vaccine Booster Dose to Children 5 through 11 Years 
 

 

 

If your email program has trouble displaying this email, view as a webpage. 
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May 17, 2022

Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update: FDA Expands Eligibility for 
Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine Booster Dose to  

Children 5 through 11 Years  
  

Dear International Colleague, 

Today, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration amended the emergency use authorization (EUA) 
for the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine, authorizing the use of a single booster dose for 
administration to individuals 5 through 11 years of age at least five months after completion of a 
primary series with the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine. 

“While it has largely been the case that COVID-19 tends to be less severe in children than 
adults, the omicron wave has seen more kids getting sick with the disease and being 
hospitalized, and children may also experience longer term effects, even following initially 
mild disease,” said FDA Commissioner Robert M. Califf, M.D. “The FDA is authorizing the 
use of a single booster dose of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine for children 5 
through 11 years of age to provide continued protection against COVID-19. Vaccination 
continues to be the most effective way to prevent COVID-19 and its severe consequences, 
and it is safe. If your child is eligible for the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine and has 
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not yet received their primary series, getting them vaccinated can help protect them from 
the potentially severe consequences that can occur, such as hospitalization and death.”    

On Jan. 3, the FDA authorized the use of a single booster dose of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-
19 Vaccine for administration to individuals 12 through 15 years of age after completion of 
primary vaccination with the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine. Today’s action expands the 
use of a single booster dose of the vaccine for administration to individuals 5 through 11 years 
age at least five months after completion of a primary series of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 
Vaccine. The FDA has authorized the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine for use in individuals 
5 years of age and older and has approved Comirnaty (COVID-19 Vaccine, mRNA) for use in 
individuals 16 years of age and older. 

“The Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine is effective in helping to prevent the most severe 
consequences of COVID-19 in individuals 5 years of age and older,” said Peter Marks, 
M.D., Ph.D., director of the FDA’s Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. “Since 
authorizing the vaccine for children down to 5 years of age in October 2021, emerging 
data suggest that vaccine effectiveness against COVID-19 wanes after the second dose of 
the vaccine in all authorized populations. The FDA has determined that the known and 
potential benefits of a single booster dose of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine for 
children 5 through 11 years of age at least five months after completing a primary series 
outweigh its known and potential risks and that a booster dose can help provide 
continued protection against COVID-19 in this and older age groups.” 

Data Supporting Effectiveness 

The EUA for a single booster dose of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine for children 5 
through 11 years of age is based on FDA’s analysis of immune response data in a subset of 
children from the ongoing randomized placebo-controlled trial that supported the October 2021 
authorization of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine primary series in this age group. 
Antibody responses were evaluated in 67 study participants who received a booster dose 7 to 9 
months after completing a two-dose primary series of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine. 
The antibody level against the SARS-CoV-2 virus one month after the booster dose was 
increased compared to before the booster dose. 

FDA Evaluation of Safety 

The safety of a single booster dose of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine in this age group 
was assessed in approximately 400 children who received a booster dose at least five months 
(range 5 to 9 months) after completing a two-dose primary series. The most commonly reported 
side effects were pain, redness and swelling at the injection site, as well as fatigue, headache, 
muscle or joint pain and chills and fever. 

The FDA did not hold a meeting of its Vaccines and Related Biological Products Advisory 
Committee on today’s action, as the agency previously convened the committee for extensive 
discussions regarding the use of booster doses of COVID-19 vaccines and, after review of 
Pfizer’s EUA request, the FDA concluded that the request did not raise questions that would 
benefit from additional discussion by committee members. The FDA will make available on its 
website relevant documents regarding today’s authorization. 

The amendment to the EUA was granted to Pfizer Inc. 

Additional Resources: 

 Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine 
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 COVID-19 Vaccines 

 Emergency Use Authorization for Vaccines Explained 
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